IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jan 08 2024

01:38PM EST

Transaction ID 71760216

State of West Virginia ex rel.
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel,

Petitioner,

v.

No. 23-619

James W. Keenan, a member of the West Virginia State Bar,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE OFFICE OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org
Kristin P. Halkias [Bar No. 7167]
Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel khalkias@wvodc.org
Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel
West Virginia Judicial Tower, Suite 1200
4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE
Charleston, West Virginia 25304
(304) 558-7999

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

On October 26, 2023, the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, by and through counsel Kristin P. Halkias, filed a petition with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia (hereinafter "Supreme Court") seeking the immediate suspension of the law license of James W. Keenan (hereinafter "Respondent") in accordance with Rule 3.27 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. Respondent, by and through counsel Joseph M. Farrell, Jr., filed a request for hearing in accordance with Rule 3.27(c) of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

The Supreme Court directed the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure to file a petitioner's brief on or before January 11, 2024, and the matter was also scheduled for oral argument on April 16, 2024.

B. FINDINGS OF FACT

- James W. Keenan (hereinafter "Respondent") is a lawyer practicing in Fayetteville, which is located in Fayette County, West Virginia. Respondent, having diploma privilege, was admitted to The West Virginia State Bar on January 8, 1980. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board.
- 2. On June 30, 2022, the Investigative Panel of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board filed a statement of charges against Respondent, and a hearing was held May 16, 2023. Respondent personally appeared by and through counsel. The Hearing Panel of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board

(hereinafter "Hearing Panel") found that Respondent violated Rules 1.8(j)¹, 8.4(a)² and 8.4(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct and recommended that he be suspended for six (6) months from the practice of law. Said recommendation was submitted to the Court on September 21, 2023, and ODC consented to the Hearing Panel recommendation on September 25, 2023.

- 3. By Order issued November 14, 2023, the Supreme Court concurred and approved the Hearing Panel's recommended disposition. Accordingly, Respondent's license to practice law was suspended for six (6) months, effective immediately. Should Respondent desire to be reinstated at the expiration of his six (6) month suspension, the Supreme Court Ordered that petition for reinstatement in accordance with Rule 3.32 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure was required.³
- 4. On July 26, 2023, a criminal complaint was filed in Fayette County, West Virginia, charging Respondent with brandishing a deadly weapon and assault in violation of W.Va. Code §§ 61-7-11 & 61-2-9(b) in an incident which occurred on July 25, 2023. [Appendix pp. 1-15, Exhibit 1]
- 5. Sergeant Shaun Maynor with the Fayetteville Police Department responded to the call and drafted the criminal complaint. The complaint is summarized as follows: Benjamin Morgan received a text message from his daughter while she was working at the Stache ice cream shop

¹ Rule 1.8. Conflict of Interest: Current Clients: Specific Rules. (j) A lawyer shall not have sexual relations with a client whom the lawyer personally represents during the legal representation unless a consensual sexual relationship existed between them at the commencement of the lawyer/client relationship. For purposes of this rule, "sexual relations" means sexual intercourse or any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a client or causing such client to touch the sexual or other intimate parts of the lawyer for the purpose of arousing or gratifying the sexual desire of either party or as a means of abuse.

² Rule 8.4. Misconduct It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another; (d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

³ In its Order of November 14, 2023, the Supreme Court also ordered Respondent complete an additional three (3) hours of continuing legal education in ethics, specifically in the area of awareness and education in unwanted advances and/or sexual harassment/misconduct, which may be completed via electronic pre-recorded presentation, in addition to the ethics hours he is otherwise required to complete; and Respondent was ordered to pay the costs of the disciplinary proceeding.

that a man was blowing his horn in the parking lot. Mr. Morgan, who was working next door, went outside and observed Respondent inside his ear blowing his horn.

Respondent reportedly stated, "I want some fucking ice cream," and Mr. Morgan asked that he not use profanity because children were in the area. Mr. Morgan said Respondent became angry and, when he was within approximately three feet of the car, Mr. Morgan said that Respondent "was pointing a gun in his direction" from the waist area while sitting in the car. Mr. Morgan said he could clearly see the gun given the type of car Respondent was in (a BMW convertible), and he believed the gun to be a black Ruger LCP. Mr. Morgan reported that Respondent was "screaming that he would shoot him and whoop his ass."

Sergeant Maynor said that while he was taking Mr. Morgan's statement, a witness approached his partner and gave a statement. The witness said that she saw a man in a convertible BMW pull into the ice cream shop parking lot and repeatedly threaten to shoot a man on the balcony. She said he "kept repeating it over and over again". Sergeant Maynor confirmed the subject was Respondent, and the vehicle was a 2021 light blue BMW 430 convertible that is registered to Respondent. [Appendix p. 16, Exhibit 2]

- 6. The criminal charges are pending in Fayette County Magistrate Court.
- 7. On August 10, 2023, ODC opened an investigation into the criminal matter. By response dated September 1, 2023, Respondent invoked his fifth amendment constitutional right against self-incrimination. The ODC investigation remains open, but is stayed until the underlying criminal matter is resolved.
- 8. On July 31, 2023, The Honorable Thomas H. Ewing, Circuit Court Judge for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit of West Virginia, sent a letter to Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel advising of a Facebook post made by Respondent. [Appendix pp.17-18, Exhibit 3] Respondent had messaged both Judge Ewing and Judge Matthew England, a Family Court Judge for the

- Fourteenth Family Court Circuit in Fayette County, in a group message in which he shared his Facebook post with them.
- In his letter, Judge Ewing said he felt duty bound pursuant to Rule 2.15(D) of the Code of Judicial Conduct⁴ to alert ODC of the contents of the message.
- 10. The Facebook post in question began: "I have been criticized by the WV State Bar ODC for using the word 'fuck' to my clients so:..." and Respondent proceeded to replace the "F word" with the word "COITUS" throughout the post. The last line read "The WV State Bar ODC can go COITUS themselves!" The post was made at 1:05 a.m. on July 14, 2023. [Appendix p. 19, Exhibit 4]
- 11. On July 31, 2023, at 12:46 a.m., Respondent posted a poem on Facebook and changed his signature to include the phrase "Ready to Draw". [Appendix p. 20, Exhibit 5]
- 12. On September 21, 2023, Respondent sent unsolicited and unwelcomed profanc text messages to Jennifer Smith, Deputy Chief Probation Officer for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit in Fayette County (hereinafter "Deputy Chief Smith"). The text messages state as follows:

Respondent: I have nearly died 6 times in the last 3 years from heart attacks and infections! I MUST eat your pussy & fuck the hell out of ya before I do die! Come to me!!

Respondent: Let's arrange a visit here!

13. Deputy Chief Smith immediately reported the messages to the Chief Probation Officer, Jerrod White, who advised Deputy Chief Smith to report the incident to the Honorable Paul Blake, Jr., Chief Circuit Court Judge for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit.

⁴ Rule 2.15(D) of the Code of Judicial Conduct: A judge having knowledge indicating a substantial fikelihood that a lawyer has committed a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct shall take appropriate action.

- 14. Deputy Chief Smith drafted a MEMO to Chief Judge Blake, and copied Judge Thomas Ewing and Chief White. Deputy Chief Smith's MEMO included a screenshot of the messages.

 [Appendix pp. 20-21, Exhibit 6]
- 15. The MEMO identified the phone number the messages were sent from as 304-640-1034. A screen printout of Respondent's phone number in the West Virginia State Bar directory on September 26, 2023, confirmed 304-640-1034 as being Respondent's phone number. [Appendix p. 23, Exhibit 7]
- 16. Deputy Chief Smith provided an affidavit regarding the incident, which confirmed she was not currently, nor had she ever, been in a romantic relationship with Respondent, and that the messages were alarming, offensive, unsolicited and unwelcomed. [Appendix pp. 24-25, Exhibit 8]
- 17. Pursuant to Rule 2.15(B) of the Code of Judicial Conduct, Chief Judge Blake informed ODC of Deputy Chief Smith's report regarding the harassing messages sent by Respondent.⁵ [Appendix pp. 26-27, Exhibit 9]
- 18. On September 15, 2023, Respondent failed to attend a properly noticed hearing before Judge Ewing on plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment in the matter of Sheriff of Summers County Justin Faris Conservator for Arnold Maddy v. Zachary Maddy (CC-10-2023). During the hearing, Respondent's client, defendant Zachary Maddy, informed the Court that he had paid Respondent to represent him in the case. Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was granted by Order issued September 25, 2023. [Appendix pp. 28-32, Exhibit 10]
- 19. Judge Ewing provided an affidavit wherein he said he has concerns about Respondent's recent conduct and fears that "his decision-making is impaired to the point to where it is negatively

⁵ Rule 2.15(B) of the Code of Judicial Conduct: A judge having knowledge that a lawyer has committed a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct that raises a substantial question regarding the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects shall inform the appropriate authority.

impacting his representation of clients and undermining the credibility of the legal profession and the legal system." [Appendix pp. 28-32, Exhibit 10].

C. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Because Respondent's personal and professional misconduct and erratic behavior continues to escalate and includes threats of violence and harassment against the public and Court employees, Respondent has violated Rules 8.4(b) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, which state in pertinent part:

Rule 8.4. Misconduct.

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:

- (b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects;
- (d) Engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The emergency petition was filed with the Supreme Court in October 2023 because a number of reports involving Respondent's troubling and escalating dangerous conduct were made to ODC prior to issuance of the November 14, 2023 Supreme Court Order and while the related charges therein were pending. Although the Supreme Court issued its Order on November 14, 2023, and thereby immediately suspended Respondent's license for six (6) months as recommended by the Hearing Panel, none of the matters regarding Respondent's subsequent troubling conduct have been addressed. Given the nature of the reported threatening conduct, coupled with Respondent's regular and vociferous self-reports of being "armed" and "ready to draw", Respondent is currently a danger to the public and needs to be removed from the practice of law indefinitely.

Respondent has committed clear violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct and discipline is required. The findings of fact and conclusions of law asserted above demonstrate that Respondent violated the duties a lawyer owes to the public, to the legal system, and to the profession, and that he acted in an intentional and knowing manner, and caused actual and potential injury. By indefinitely suspending Respondent until at least the underlying criminal matter in which he has pleaded the fifth amendment in his answer to the ODC's request for information has concluded in court and he has cooperated fully with the ODC investigation thereto, this Court will be serving its goals of protecting the public, reassuring the public as to the reliability and integrity of attorneys, and safeguarding its interests in the administration of justice. A strong sanction is also necessary to deter lawyers who may be considering or who are engaging in similar misconduct.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION