IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APEALS OF THE SCA EFiled: Feb 21 2024 STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

05:22PM EST Transaction ID 72109115

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA ex rel. OFFICE OF LAWYER DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL,

Petitioner

vs.)

No. 23-619

JAMES W. KEENAN, a member of the West Virginia State Bar,

Respondent

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT JAMES W. KEENAN

Joseph M. Farrell, Jr., Esquire (WVSB #1167) FARRELL, WHITE & LEGG PLLC 914 Fifth Avenue P.O. Box 6457 Huntington, WV 25722-6457 Telephone: (304) 522-9100 Facsimile: (304) 522-9162 jmf@farrell3.com

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

The Office of Disciplinary Counsel (hereafter ODC) filed a Petition, pursuant to Rule 3.27 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure seeking the immediate suspension of the license to practice law of James W. Keenan. The Petition was filed on October 26, 2023 even though ODC knew or should have known that the Supreme Court of Appeals was scheduled to decide whether the law license of Mr. Keenan should be suspended pursuant to the Petition in Case No. 22-0510 on November 14, 2023. The Supreme Court of Appeals approved the recommended disposition of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board in Case No. 22-0510 and entered an Order on November 15, 2023 which suspended the license of James W. Keenan for a period of six months, effective immediately. The Order permits Mr. Keenan to file a petition for reinstatement, pursuant to Rule 3.32 after the six-month suspension. That Order sets forth the requirement that prior to reinstatement, Mr. Keenan must complete an additional three hours of continuing legal education in ethics, specifically in the area of awareness and education in unwanted advances and/or sexual harassment / misconduct, which may be completed via electronic pre- recorded presentation, in addition to the ethics hours he is otherwise required to complete.

Finally that Order requires Mr. Keenan to pay the costs of the disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

Mr. Keenan was suspended for six months on November 15, 2023 and will remain suspended unless or until the Supreme Court of Appeals grants his petition for reinstatement. Mr. Keenan is not eligible to seek reinstatement until May 15, 2024.

If Mr. Keenan files a petition for reinstatement, ODC will have an opportunity to respond to the petition.

Mr. Keenan is currently suspended from the practice of law and he has closed his office and has referred his clients to other attorneys. There are, therefore no clients "in critical need of protection at this time" and there is no "danger of irreparable harm" to those clients as alleged by ODC.

B. Response to Proposed Findings of Fact

- 1. The Respondent has no objection to Findings 1-3.
- 2. Findings of Fact 4-7 refer to an open criminal complaint pending in Fayette County Magistrate Court. ODC correctly states that it opened an investigation into that matter on August 10, 2023. The Respondent responded on September 1, 2023 and invoked his Fifth Amendment Constitutional right against selfincrimination. ODC has stayed the investigation in this matter until the underlying criminal matter is resolved. Findings of Fact 4-7 do not contain the facts of the alleged incident from the Respondent's point of view. This honorable Court should draw no conclusions from the mere allegations of the Complaint.
- 3. The Respondent is licensed under West Virginia law to carry a firearm.
- 4. Finding of Fact 8-10 concern a Facebook post made by the Respondent on

July 14, 2023. On July 31, 2023, Judge Thomas Ewing sent a letter to ODC on behalf of himself and Judge Matthew England reporting the Facebook post. That letter reported that the Facebook post contained the statement "The WV State Bar ODC can go COITUS themselves." By the time Judge Ewing sent his letter, he was aware that the Respondent had already removed the quote statement from the post as his letter states "It appears that Mr. Keenan has since removed this quoted statement from the post."

- 5. The context of the Facebook post as the Respondent explained in the post is that ODC objected to his use of the "F" word with his clients so he made a number of statements substituting COITUS for the "F" word. Clearly, the statements (e.g. Pass the COITUSing butter!") were intended to be humorous and were not intended, in any way, to be threatening. Petitioner's Exhibit 4 contains the entire post including the signature wherein the Respondent identifies himself as "Attorney at Law & Irish Poet, A Pretty Good COITUS er". Mr. Keenan included his piece "COITUS" without the references to the West Virginia State Bar ODC in his fourth book "Poetry near a Lawyer, Collection IV of Poetic and Artful Expressions."
- 6. The Respondent did post a poem on Facebook on July 31, 2023 and the signature line did include the phrase "Ready to Draw". That poem was not directed to or sent to ODC and is in no way threatening to any person. This phrase is also included in Mr. Keenan's fourth book.
- 7. Findings of Fact 12-17 concerns a text message that Respondent sent on September 21, 2023 to Jennifer Smith. That message contained language that

{F2270047.1}

some may find offensive and that message invited Ms. Smith to engage in sexual activity. The Respondent incorrectly thought Ms. Smith would find humor in his text as they were social friends. The Respondent now understands that the text message was not welcomed and he extends a sincere apology for his language and his conduct.

- 8. Respondent has not made any additional unwelcomed contact with Jennifer Smith and the single text of September 21, 2023 should not be considered harassment. The Respondent made a single, written contact and being informed that Ms. Smith was not interested in his proposal, he has made no further contact.
- 9. Findings of Fact 18 concerns a hearing before Judge Ewing. The Respondent was unable to attend a Summary Judgment Motion hearing on September 15, 2023 due to health issues. Judge Ewing's Affidavit (Petitioner's Exhibit 10) correctly reports that Respondent did file an objection to the request for summary judgment and "in that objection, however, Mr. Keenan clearly identified himself as a material witness to the real estate transaction at issue and the grantor's capacity to make the disputed deed, thereby raising concerns about his ability to ethically represent Mr. Maddy in the case under Rule 3.7 of the Rules of Professional Conduct." The Respondent contends and will so testify if this issue is the subject of a hearing, that he informed the client, Mr. Maddy, prior to the hearing that he was a material witness and could not represent Mr. Maddy at the hearing of September 15, 2023."
- 10. Summary Judgment was granted in favor of the plaintiff based upon a question of law. The defendant did not appeal that ruling. The ruling of the Court on the

{F2270047.1}

Summary Judgment was not based on Mr. Keenan's absence at the hearing of September 15, 2023. If Mr. Keenan had been able to attend the hearing, he would have announced that he was a material witness and was therefore unable to provide representation to the client.

C. **Conclusions of Law**

{F2270047.1}

The Conclusions of Law of the ODC lack merit. ODC contends this Respondent has violated Rule 8.4(b) which states "It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to (b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trust worthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects." The Respondent has been charged with a crime and that matter has not been resolved. ODC stated that it has stayed the investigation but ODC apparently contends the Supreme Court of Appeals should ignore the Respondent's rights to due process and the presumption of innocence and impose the sanction of suspension based upon the unresolved charge. Despite the claims of the ODC, there is no evidence before this Court that the Respondent has made threats of violence and harassment against the public and Court employees.

The claim that the Respondent violated Rule 8.4(d) is unfounded. There is no evidence that the Respondent has engaged in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

II. ARGUMENT

ODC filed this Petition on October 26, 2023 pursuant to Rule 3.27 of the Rules of Lawyer of Disciplinary Procedure. The Petition and the Brief in support of the Petition seek the immediate suspension of Respondent's license to practice law indefinitely pursuant to Rule 3.27 and ODC requests, pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Rules 5

of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure that this Court authorize the Chief Judge of Fayette County Circuit Court to appoint a trustee to protect the interests of Respondent's clients. Rule 3.27 is not intended to provide an indefinite suspension.

The Court suspended the Respondent from the practice of law for six months by Order of November 15, 2023. That Order permits the Respondent to file a Petition for reinstatement after the six-month suspension and after the completion of other requirements. As a result of the Order of November 15, 2023, the Respondent is therefore already suspended until such time as a Petition for reinstatement is grated.

The Respondent already closed his office after notifying his clients to find other attorneys. There are, therefore, no clients of the Respondent in need of the "emergency" protection which ODC now seeks. The Court authorized the appointment of a Trustee in the Order of November 15, 2023.

The current suspension does not expire until May 15, 2024. There is no purpose in seeking the emergency suspension of a lawyer who is currently under suspension.